RECEIVED

Dec 15 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEAN HOEFER TOAL

Appellate Case No. 2023-000145

Kenneth B. Loveless, Appellant,

v.

Lesley Ann Stiles a/k/a Leslie Lou Stiles, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Desa Ballard (S.C. Bar No. 498)
Harvey M. Watson III (S.C. Bar No. 74053)
Haley Hubbard (S.C. Bar No. 103195)

BALLARD & WATSON
226 State Street
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
desab@desaballard.com
harvey@desaballard.com
haley@desaballard.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES OF APPEAL

- I. Did the Court err in considering material outside the facts alleged in the complaint in reaching its decision to grant Stiles' motion for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRCP?
- II. Did the Court err in finding that Stiles is immune from suit under the Communications Decency Act?
- III. Did the Court err in finding the Stiles' statements are privileged under the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution?
- IV. Did the Court err in deeming matters admitted when Appellant asserted good faith objections to the Requests Admit and such Requests were outside the scope of this action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was initiated by Appellant Kenneth Loveless' (hereinafter "Loveless") filing of a Summons and Complaint against Respondent Leslie Stiles (hereinafter "Respondent") for defamation on March 16, 2022. (R. pp. 35-44). The complaint alleged, in pertinent part, that Respondent defamed Loveless by posting and voluntarily publishing defamatory statements concerning Loveless in a Facebook group of which Respondent was the administrator and therefore had the ability to censor what appeared on the Facebook group page. (*Id.*). Respondent filed an Answer and counterclaimed against Loveless for abuse of process on April 13, 2022. (R. pp. 45-54). On April 26, 2022, Loveless filed his answer to Respondent's counterclaim along with a motion to dismiss the counterclaim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF and a motion to bifurcate the counterclaim pursuant to Rule 42(b), SCRCF. (R. pp. 55-58). Respondent filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRCF on May 10, 2022, asserting that she is entitled to judgment because she is immune from suit under the Communications Decency Act, and because her statements are privileged by the First Amendment. (R. pp. 59-60).

In May 2022, several motions were filed in this action pertaining to discovery issues. After serving subpoenas on several individuals on or about April 14, 2022, Respondent subsequently filed a motion for rule to show cause and a motion to compel as to those third parties on May 11, 2022. (R. pp. 61-97). Loveless then filed a motion for protective order or confidentiality order on May 27, 2022, seeking to prevent Respondent from engaging in discovery not related to the legal or factual issues in dispute in the matter. (R. pp. 98-123). Respondent filed a motion to compel discovery, deem matters admitted, and for sanctions against Loveless on May 27, 2022. (R. pp. 124-176).

Respondent also issued subpoenas to Lexington-Richland School District Five in this matter. In responding to the subpoenas, counsel for District 5 asserted attorney-client privilege to certain documents requested by Respondent, to which Respondent filed a motion to overrule District 5's claims of privilege on June 27, 2022. (R. pp. 177-207). On July 14, 2022, Loveless filed a motion to quash Respondent's subpoena to Contract Construction, Inc. to again prevent Respondent from engaging in discovery unrelated to the defamation action. (R. pp. 208-235).

On August 19, 2022, the South Carolina Press Association ("SCPA") filed a motion to intervene and an accompanying memorandum in support of its motion. (R. pp. 236-240). In response, Loveless filed his objection to the SCPA's motion to intervene on August 26, 2022. (R. p. 241).

Respondent filed an Omnibus Memorandum of Law on November 28, 2022, ahead of the motions hearing set for the motions pending up to that point, including Respondent's motions to compel and for judgment on the pleadings. (R. pp. 242-603). A motions hearing was held on December 2, 2022, before the Honorable Jean Toal.¹ Following the hearing, Justice Toal issued an order granting Respondent's motion on December 21, 2022 (R. pp. 3-11), and on December 22, 2022, Justice Toal issued an order granting Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings. (R. pp. 12-22). Loveless filed a timely motion to reconsider the court's order granting the motion for judgment on the pleadings on January 3, 2023. (R. pp. 604-607). On January 10, 2023, Justice Toal filed an order denying Loveless' motion to reconsider the order. (R. pp. 23-24). Loveless timely served his Notice of Appeal on January 27, 2023 of four (4) orders:

¹ This was the first motion hearing held in the action. Nothing in the record reveals why there was a lengthy delay in having the motions heard. As a result of the lengthy delay, Justice Toal seemed to attribute the delay as an unwillingness on Loveless' part to participate in discovery when that was simply not true.

1. Order granting Defendant's Motion to Compel, Deem Matters Admitted and for Sanctions filed December 21, 2022.²
2. Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Judgement on the Pleadings filed December 22, 2022
3. Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider filed January 10, 2023.
4. Form 4 Order dated January 12, 2023 (ruling on multiple motions)

This appeal follows.

Stiles' counterclaim remains pending at the trial court level, but on information and belief, the trial court proceedings are stayed by the pendency of this appeal, because Stiles' claim for abuse of process necessarily depends on the final outcome of this appeal.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Appellant Kenneth Loveless began serving as a member of the board of trustees for Lexington-Richland School District Five (hereinafter "District 5") when he was elected to the board in November 2018.³ Loveless brought this action for defamation against Respondent Leslie Stiles in his individual capacity as a citizen and resident of the State of South Carolina, and not in his official capacity as an elected member of the board. (R. pp. 35-44).

Respondent created a Facebook group named "Deep Dive into D5" (hereinafter "Deep Dive") on or about October 5, 2020, for which Respondent served as the page administrator. (R. p. 37, ¶8). It is believed that Respondent created this page for the purpose of airing her grievances

² Some of the orders that are appealed would be orders from interlocutory orders, but since the Order Granting Judgement on the Pleadings is a final order, the otherwise interlocutory orders are subject to immediate appeal as adjunct appeals to the final order. S.C. Code §14-3-330.

³ Loveless continued to serve as a board member until losing his re-election bid following the November 2022 general election.

about decisions made by the school board and administration. (R. p. 98).⁴ In creating the Deep Dive Facebook group, Respondent represented to the public that “[a]ll information posted is a result of much research and analysis...” (R. p. 37, ¶8). As administrator of Deep Dive, Respondent had the authority and responsibility to create and delete posts, send messages, respond to and delete comments and posts on the page, and remove and ban people from the page. (*Id.* at ¶10). She voluntarily warranted the accuracy of the information posted on the Facebook Page, warranting it was “a result of much research and analysis.”

During her tenure as administrator of the Deep Dive page, Respondent published, approved, and endorsed posts⁵ to the page that contained false and defamatory statements about Loveless despite representing that all information posted to the page was factual and derived from much research and analysis. (*Id.* at ¶12). The defamatory posts that Respondent published to Deep Dive not only included statements and posts from third parties, but also included defamatory posts which were authored by the Respondent herself. (*Id.* at ¶9).

Loveless brought this action for defamation and libel *per se* against the Respondent on March 16, 2022, alleging that Respondent voluntarily posted defamatory statements on the Deep Dive page made by herself and others, and that as administrator of the page, she ratified and

⁴ Recall, the COVID breakout in March 2020 brought out lunatics on all sides, many of whom appeared at school board meetings lobbying for whatever political position they had regarding masks and whether school should be open so children could learn or teachers could stay home and still get paid. The social media firestorm, however, was not limited to protecting children and/or teachers. Loveless became a target of Respondent and others based on a false narrative perpetuated by certain individuals, in the press and on social media about whether he was using his board position for personal profit. No one knew that Loveless served without compensation on the school board and his work for the district was not only NOT for his financial benefit, his work FOR the Board was *pro bono*.

⁵ By way of omission, Respondent also allowed clearly defamatory statements posted to the Facebook page to remain on the Page, thereby abandoning her responsibility as Administrator of the Page and her personal “warranty” that everything that appeared on the page was the “result of much research and analysis.”

endorsed these defamatory statements by failing to uphold her duty to monitor the page. (R. pp. 35-44).

A hearing on Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings was held before Justice Jean Toal on December 2, 2022, during which the Respondent argued that she was immune from liability pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) of the Communications Decency Act. (R. pp. 59-60). As set forth above, the trial court granted Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings and denied Loveless' motion to reconsider its order. Loveless subsequently filed this appeal.

On the same date, Justice Toal heard and granted Stiles' motion to deem matters admitted based on what she concluded were insufficient answers and objections by Loveless to the Requests to Admit. (R. pp. 12-22). The merits of this order are also the subject of this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the appellate court "applies the same standard of reviewed implemented by the circuit court." *Hambrick v. GMAC Mortg. Corp.*, 370 S.C. 118, 122, 634 S.E.2d 5, 7 (Ct. App. 2006). When considering such a motion, "the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted. *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1990). When considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings, "a complaint is sufficient if it states any cause of action or it appears that the plaintiff is entitled to any relief whatsoever." *Id.* "On review of the motion, the court may not consider matters outside the pleadings." *Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 533 S.E.2d 530 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Firemen's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, 302 S.C. 234, 394 S.E.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1990). That would necessarily include information presented to the Court on other motions that were heard on the same date, but which could not be considered in adjudicating the motion for judgment on the pleadings.

The law in South Carolina is clear that “a judgment on the pleadings against the plaintiff is not proper if there is an issue of fact raised by the complaint which, if resolved in favor of the plaintiff, would entitle him to judgment.” *Brown v. United Insurance Company of America*, 268 S.C. 254, 233 S.E.2d 298 (1977). “A judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts.” *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1990) (citing *U.S. Casualty Company v. Hiers*, 233 S.C. 333, 104 S.E.2d 561 (1958)).

Regarding the standard of review in considering the trial court’s decision on Respondent’s motion to deem matters admitted, “a trial court judge’s rulings on discovery matters will not be disturbed by an appellate court absent a clear abuse of discretion.” *Hollman v. Woolfson*, 384 S.C. 571, 577, 683 S.E.2d 495, 498 (2009) (citing *Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C.499, 381 S.E.2d 734 (1989)). “An ‘abuse of discretion’ may be found by this Court where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the lower court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the right of appellant, and therefore, amounted to an error of law.” *Dunn*, 298 S.C.499, 381 S.E.2d 734 (1989).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONSIDERING MATERIAL OUTSIDE THE FACTS ALLEGED IN THE COMPLAINT IN REACHING ITS DECISION TO GRANT STILES'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS PURSUANT TO RULE 12(C), SCRPC.

In granting the Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings, the trial court relied on the factual recitation presented and the defenses and arguments raised by the Respondent in her Omnibus Memo of Law. This was an error of law as the trial court is constrained to review only the allegations contained in the complaint when ruling on a motion for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRPC, as is this Court when reviewing the appeal.

When determining whether to grant a Rule 12(c) motion, our courts have looked solely to the four corners of the complaint—not to other pleadings. “A complaint is sufficient if it states any cause of action or it appears that the plaintiff is entitled to any relief whatsoever.” *Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 287, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000). “The court must take all well pleaded factual allegations in the Complaint as true.” *Id.* “Pleadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties.” *Id.*

In *Falk v. Sadler*, Falk filed a complaint against Sadler asserting causes of action concerning her actions as a Guardian *ad Litem* for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and malicious use or abuse of legal process. *Falk* at 285. The trial court granted Sadler's motion for judgment on the pleadings and dismissed the case. On appeal, this Court looked to the four corners of the complaint and held that the complaint properly alleged facts that, if true, could result in a possible finding for Falk. *Id.*

In *Diminich v. 2001 Enterprises*, Diminich filed a complaint alleging breach of express and implied covenants to quit enjoyment of leased premises. 292 S.C. 141, 355 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App.

1987). The trial court granted the defendant's motion for judgment on the pleadings, and on appeal, this Court found that the judgment was improper because "on motions for judgment on the pleadings, the allegations of the complaint must be considered by the court as admitted." *Id.* In both *Falk* and *Diminich*, the Court relied on the complaint when determining whether a judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRCP is proper.

Here, the trial court extensively relied on Respondent's Omnibus Memo of Law in considering the motion for judgment on the pleadings, which told a lengthy story well beyond the pleadings and included numerous newspaper articles published by The State Newspaper which themselves contained false facts. During the hearing on the motion, counsel for Loveless explicitly objected to the trial court considering the memorandum in any way because it included matters and information outside of the complaint. (R. p. 891, line 21-p. 892, line 1). The Respondent's memorandum included a recitation of facts that contained information not contained in the complaint in addition to multiple exhibits that were not a part of the complaint and could not be considered in judgment on the pleadings. (R. pp. 242-603). However, it is clear from the trial court's order that it considered information that went well beyond the facts as alleged in the complaint, which is improper under the standard of review. For those reasons, the court erred in granting the Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings and the order must be reversed.

A. Loveless' complaint sufficiently pled a cause of action for defamation to survive a motion for judgment on the pleadings.

The trial court further erred in granting Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings because Loveless' complaint properly pled and set forth sufficient facts to establish a cause of action for defamation against the Respondent. To maintain a defamation claim, "a plaintiff must prove: (1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged statement was

published to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either the statement was actionable regardless of harm or the publication of the statement caused special harm.” *Garrard v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 429 S.C. 170, 838 S.E.2d 698 (S.C. App. 2019) (quoting *West v. Morehead*, 396 S.C. 1, 7, 720 S.E.2d 495, 498 (Ct. App. 2011)); *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 465, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006); *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 494, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002).

When considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings, “a complaint is sufficient if it states any cause of action or it appears that the plaintiff is entitled to any relief whatsoever.” *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1990). Additionally, the court is required to treat all well-pleaded facts in the complaint as true. *Id.* When the complaint is properly considered and all allegations are assumed to be true, Loveless’ complaint sufficiently established a cause of action for defamation for which Loveless was entitled to relief. Accordingly, the trial court erred in granting Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings and dismissing this defamation action.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT STILES IS IMMUNE FROM SUIT UNDER THE COMMUNICATIONS DECENCY ACT.

The trial court found that the Respondent is immune from civil liability under 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) of the Communications Decency Act, however this was an error of law as “protection under §230(c)(1) extends only to bar certain claims imposing liability for specific information that *another party provided.*” *Henderson v. The Source for Pub. Data, L.P.*, 21-1678, 1, 3 (4th Cir. 2022) (emphasis added).

47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) provides that “no provider or user of an interactive computer service shall be treated as the publisher or speaker of any information provided by another information

content provider.” An information content provider is defined as “any person or entity that is responsible, in whole or in part, for the creation or development of information provided through the Internet or any other interactive computer service.” 47 U.S.C. § 230(f)(3). In granting Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings, the trial court agreed that Respondent was an information content provider who could not be treated as the publisher or speaker of information provided by another Facebook user, and therefore could not be held responsible under 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) for the statements of other users. (Order Granting Motion for Judgment on Pleadings). The trial court’s finding is flawed because, as alleged in the complaint, the Respondent’s liability is not solely based on statements by other parties that she republished and specifically includes her own common law warranty as to the truth of the statements which appeared on the page, as “result of much research and analysis...” as well as her own defamatory statements about Loveless that she posted to the Deep Dive Page. (R. p. 37, ¶9; R. p. 606, ¶16).

In *Henderson v. The Source for Pub. Data*, Henderson brought claims against Public Data for violating the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 21-1678, 1, 3 (4th Cir. 2022). Public Data asserted that the claims were precluded by 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) and moved for judgment on the pleadings, which was granted by the district court. *Id.* On appeal to the Fourth Circuit, the Court specifically dealt with the protection provided by 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1). *Id.* The Court found that Public Data was not immune under 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) because the offending information underlying Henderson’s claim that was published by Public Data was not solely provided by another information content provider. *Id.*

In the instant matter, Loveless not only alleged that the Respondent published false and defamatory statements about Loveless to the Deep Dive page that originated from other individuals, but that Respondent also posted defamatory statements to the page that she authored

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