RECEIVED

Dec 15 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from the
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS, RICHLAND COUNTY
The Honorable Jean H. Toal, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000145
Case No. 2022-CP-40-001364

Kenneth B. Loveless.....Appellant,

v.

Lesley Ann Stiles a/k/a Leslie Lou Stiles.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Christopher P. Kenney
CHRIS KENNEY LAW
Post Office Box 1377
808 Lady Street, Suite D7 (29201)
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 546-3695
cpk@chriskenny.law

John S. Nichols
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan
Post Office Box 7965
Columbia, South Carolina 29203
(803) 779-7599
john@bluesteinattorneys.com

ATTORNEYS FOR

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

IV. The First Amendment protects Stiles from suit by a public official claiming Stiles had a duty to censor third-party speech on a social media site.

Speech concerning public officials “must be protected with special vigilance” because electing members of the government and debating their qualifications therefore touches on “the essence of a free and responsible government.” George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 455, 548 S.E.2d 868, 875 (2001) (quoting Harte–Hanks Communications, Inc. v. Connaughton, 491 U.S. 657, 686 (1989) (quoting James Madison, 4 J. Elliot, Debates on the Federal Constitution 575 (1861))). Those who choose public life must reasonably expect that our “profound national commitment to the principle that debate on public issues should be uninhibited, robust, and wide-open” will at times “include vehement, caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly sharp attacks on government and public officials.” Sullivan, 376 U.S. at 270. The First Amendment’s actual malice standard forecloses Loveless’s defamation claim because, accepting well-pled allegations as true, Loveless has not pled actual malice. As explained, his undertaking theory is simply negligence by another name, and negligence is *never* actual malice within the meaning of the First Amendment.

As alternative grounds for dismissal, the circuit court held Stiles was entitled to judgment on the pleadings because Sullivan and its progeny protect her from suit by a public official seeing to hold her responsible for the veracity of statements by others on Facebook. Loveless disagrees. He claims (1) he is *not* a public official for the purpose of this claim and (2) he cognizably pled actual malice. See Appellant’s Br. 15–16. Neither assertion is correct.

A. The First Amendment’s actual malice standard displaces the common law for public officials.

Defamation is the unprivileged publication of a false statement to a third party with fault resulting in presumptive or special harm (depending on the nature of the statement).¹² Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 464–65, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006). At common law, a statement is presumed false, while truth is an affirmative defense. Fountain v. First Reliance Bank, 398 S.C. 434, 442, 730 S.E.2d 305, 309 (2012); accord Haulbrooks v. Overton, 295 S.C. 380, 383, 368 S.E.2d 676, 678 (Ct. App. 1988). However, when the statement involves a public figure or public official, the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment abrogates the common law presumption of falsity and the plaintiff must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the statement was false *and* that it was made with knowledge of falsity or reckless disregard of whether it was false or not—i.e., with constitutional or actual malice. Sullivan, 376 U.S. at 279–80; Beckham v. Sun News, 289 S.C. 28, 30–31, 344 S.E.2d 603, 604–05 (1986); Parker v. Evening Post Pub. Co., 317 S.C. 236, 243, 452 S.E.2d 640, 644 (Ct. App. 1994).

¹² Under the common law, “libel is actionable *per se* if it involves written or printed words which tend to degrade a person, that is, to reduce his character or reputation in the estimation of his friends or acquaintances, or the public, or to disgrace him, or to render him odious, contemptible, or ridiculous.” Id. at 465–66, 629 S.E.2d at 664 (quoting Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc. (Holtzscheiter II), 332 S.C. 502, 510–11, 506 S.E.2d 497, 502 (1998)).

B. Loveless has admitted (and the circuit court correctly found) he is a public official.

In cases involving defamation of a public official, the plaintiff must allege and prove actual malice. Sanders v. Prince, 304 S.C. 236, 239, 403 S.E.2d 640, 643 (1991) (citing Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 at 279–80). That means “an important initial step in analyzing any defamation case is determining whether a particular plaintiff is a public official, public figure, or private figure.” Erickson, 368 S.C. at 468, 629 S.E.2d at 666. Loveless now disputes that he is a public-official plaintiff subject to the actual malice standard. This is an absurd and frivolous contention.

Loveless has already *admitted* he is a public official in his Reply to Stiles’ counterclaim. Compare R. App. 51 at ¶ 45 (alleging “Loveless is a public figure.”), with R. App. 56 at ¶ 5 (stating the allegation “is admitted.”). Accordingly, that fact is established by the pleadings and cannot be contested here.

Even if it were not an established fact, determining whether a plaintiff is a public official is a matter of law to be decided by the court. Erickson, 368 S.C. at 468, 629 S.E.2d at 666. The JOTP Order finds Loveless is a public-official plaintiff because he was elected to the school board by voters and “he had the sort of power and responsibility over governmental affairs that invites public scrutiny and discussion separate and apart from the controversy giving rise to this action.” R. App. 19 (citing Erickson, *supra*). That is the appropriate legal standard. Cf. Erickson, 368 S.C. at 469, 629 S.E.2d at 666. Loveless seeks to dispute this conclusion arguing “service on the school board was part-time and should be judged on a different standard.” Appellant’s Br. 15. Were that the standard, then *most* of this state’s elected officials would fall outside the public-official plaintiff category, including members of the legislature and members of county and city councils. That novel standard makes no sense and there is no authority for it.

C. Negligence never constitutes actual malice.

Loveless argues he pled actual malice. See Appellant’s Br. 15–16. Stiles agrees the Complaint contains the words “actual malice;” however, what Loveless has actually pled is negligence based on an undertaking theory. See § I, supra.

Liability based on an undertaking theory can never, as a matter of law, constitute actual malice. An undertaking is one way an individual can come to have a legal duty, the breach of which might cause damages that might be recoverable. See, e.g., Wright v. PRG Real Est. Mgmt., Inc., 426 S.C. 202, 213, 826 S.E.2d 285, 290–91 (2019) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965) to explain voluntary undertaking for consideration can be liable for failure to exercise reasonable care). A libel claim never sounds in negligence because “[a] claim that a statement constitutes libel or slander must be brought in a defamation cause of action, which is grounded in and affected by both common and constitutional law.” Erickson, 368 S.C. at 482–83, 629 S.E.2d at 673–74 (affirming dismissal of negligence claim).

Loveless must allege not only that the statements are false, but that Stiles *knew* they were false or that she “entertained serious doubt” as to the truth but disregarded the concern of that falsity. See St. Amant v. Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 731 (1968) (“reckless conduct is not measured by whether a reasonably prudent man would have published, or would have investigated before publishing.”). This extremely high standard cannot ever be met with an undertaking theory. At most, Loveless alleged negligent performance of a duty, but mere errors fall well short of what he must plead. See Erickson, 368 S.C. at 467, 629 S.E.2d at 665 (quoting Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 340 (1974)). Thus, even assuming an undertaking allegation could suffice as the predicate for a libel claim (it does not under Erickson), it never satisfies the actual malice standard—it is just simple negligence.

As the JOTP Order explains, the essence of the statements in the Complaint are “opinions and criticism” of Loveless’s performance of his duties as a member of the school board. R. App. 21. For example, Loveless believes Stiles is responsible for other peoples’ views that he is an “unethical hypocrite,” a “liar,” and a “loser,” among other things. See R. App. 39–41 at ¶ 16. Even crediting Loveless’ defective undertaking theory, Stiles’ failure to censor these views also cannot be actual malice because they are mere opinions.

Some statements—such as opinions, satire, epithets, or rhetorical hyperbole—cannot reasonably be interpreted as stating facts about an individual and therefore cannot constitute the basis for defamation. See Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 20 (1990). This is because there is no such thing as a false idea under the First Amendment, Gertz, 418 U.S. at 339–40, and the First Amendment protection thereby “provides assurance that public debate will not suffer for lack of ‘imaginative expression’ or the ‘rhetorical hyperbole’ which has traditionally added much to the discourse of our Nation.” Milkovich, supra. Opinions are not actionable unless they assert a provable falsehood. Chapin v. Knight-Ridder, Inc., 993 F.2d 1087, 1093 (4th Cir. 1993) (citing Milkovich, 497 U.S. at 19). “However pernicious an opinion may seem, we depend for its correction not on the conscience of judges and juries but on the competition of other ideas.” Id.

For example, a federal appeals court held a tweet suggesting the plaintiff’s claims of intimidation were a “con job” would not be understood by a reasonable reader as an accusation that the plaintiff literally committed the crime of fraud and that, even though it *could* be read to accuse her of lying, it was still non-actionable opinion. Clifford v. Trump, 818 F. App’x 746, 749–50 (9th Cir. 2020). Likewise, the statement a charity was charging a “hefty markup” was non-actionable opinion because “hefty” was just “too subjective a word to be proved false.” Chapin, 993 F.2d at 1093. Similarly, pointed questions, even those designed to arouse suspicion, are not

defamatory unless reasonably read to assert a falsehood because “inquiry itself, however embarrassing or unpleasant to its subject, is not accusation.” Id. at 1094. Accordingly, where an article questioned who would benefit more from a charitable endeavor—the soldier-beneficiaries or the charity’s organizer—the Fourth Circuit reasoned the question could not reasonably be read to imply the defamatory fact (pocket-lining) it simply provoked public scrutiny of the plaintiff’s activities: “Voluntary public figures must tolerate such examination.” Id.

The Complaint is replete with statements that are mere opinions or rhetorical hyperbole. See R. App. 38–39 at ¶¶ 15(a), (d); 16(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (j), (k), (m), (n), (p), (q), (r), (s), (t), (u), (v), (w), (x), (z). Courts look to rhetorical indicators like “appeared to be,” “might well be,” “could well happen,” and “should be” to signal presumptions and predictions rather than facts. Bellavia Blatt & Crossett, P.C. v. Kel & Partners LLC, 151 F. Supp. 3d 287, 293 (E.D.N.Y. 2015), aff’d, 670 F. App’x 731 (2d Cir. 2016); see also Levin v. McPhee, 119 F.3d 189, 197 (2d Cir. 1997) (statements, read in context, understood as conjecture, hypothesis, or speculation signal what is said is opinion, not fact). These signals are present throughout the statements in the Complaint and the failure by Stiles to censor these non-actionable opinions cannot support an allegation she acted with actual malice. The circuit court was correct to conclude this is protected discourse and Stiles was under “no obligation to censor the speech of others to protect [Loveless] from criticism.” R. App. 21.

V. Sanctions were appropriate and necessary to punish flagrant, bad-faith discovery conduct that permeated all Loveless’s discovery responses.

The courts of this state are cluttered with discovery motions made necessary solely because one side or the other refuses to follow longstanding and well-understood rules governing what a litigant must disclose and how objections should be interposed. Rules 33, 34, and 36 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require *specific* objections, the purpose of which is to apprise

the requesting party of the basis for the objection and what information, if any, is being withheld. When this procedure is followed, it minimizes the need for court intervention by allowing the requesting party to evaluate the merit of the objection and respond accordingly. Too often, the rules are not strictly followed, prompting the requesting party to press for clarification or further disclosure that may require judicial oversight. Sometimes reasonable minds can differ on whether certain discovery should be had. This is *not* such a dispute.

Here, the Court is asked to excuse intentional wrongdoing. The Discovery Order punishes Loveless for failing to substantively respond, objecting to virtually every discovery procedure, refusing to produce a single document, and interposing snide, sarcastic comments. As the Discovery Order aptly explains, Loveless’s responses “reflect a lack of seriousness and are an intentional departure from the discovery rules[.]” R. App. 5. Loveless urges the Court to ignore his bad faith conduct and focuses narrowly on the RTAs, which the circuit court deemed admitted as a sanction. R. App. 843–51. He complains they were “erroneously” deemed admitted and that he provided “complete answers[.]” “clearly stated the reasons for his objections[.]” and “provided detailed denials” that addressed the substance. Appellant’s Br. 16. These claims are false. Whether considering his conduct broadly or the RTAs specifically, Loveless intentionally broke the rules and the circuit court acted within its discretion in deeming the RTAs admitted.

A. The discovery rules require disclosure or specific objections that fairly apprise the requesting party of the basis for the objection and what is being withheld.

The key to appropriate discovery responses and objections is *specificity* that allows the requesting party to evaluate the response, any withholding, and the basis for it.

RTAs require a written response or, if objected to, objections that state the reasons. Rule 36(a), SCRCF. Denials must fairly meet the substance of the requested admission and specifically

deny the matter or provide reasons why the responding party cannot truthfully admit or deny. Id. When good faith requires it, the responding party must specify any portion admitted and deny the rest. Id. Lack of information or knowledge is not a basis to deny a request unless a reasonable inquiry is made beforehand. Id.

Interrogatories and document request responses also require specificity. Interrogatories must be answered fully unless objected to, in which case the reasons for objection must be stated in lieu of an answer. Rule 33(a), SCRCF. An interrogatory is not objectionable merely because an answer involves an opinion or contention that relates to fact or the application of law to fact. Rule 33(d), SCRCF. A party's response to document requests must either state that inspection and copying will be permitted or specifically give the reasons for any objection. Rule 34(b), SCRCF; see also Liguria Foods, Inc. v. Griffith Labs., Inc., 320 F.R.D. 168, 184–85 (N.D. Iowa 2017) (“The key requirement in both Rules 33 and 34 is that objections require ‘specificity.’”); Gowan v. Mid Century Ins. Co., 309 F.R.D. 503, 509 (D.S.D. 2015) (same, collecting cases).

In all cases, objections based on privilege must expressly make the claim and describe the nature of the information withheld in a manner that will allow the requesting party to assess the applicability of the privilege or protection. Rule 26(b)(5)(A), SCRCF. “[E]vasive or incomplete answer [are] to be treated as a failure to answer.” Rule 37(a)(3), SCRCF.

General, non-specific, and boilerplate objections are improper because they purport to disclose “subject to” an objection. They fail to alert the requesting party of the nature of the objections and whether responsive information is being withheld. As one court explained:

General objections such as the ones asserted by Defendant are meaningless and constitute a waste of time for opposing counsel and the court. In the face of such objections, it is impossible to know whether information has been withheld and, if so, why. This is particularly true in cases like this where multiple “general objections” are incorporated into many of the responses with no attempt to show the application of each objection to the particular request.

Heller v. City of Dallas, 303 F.R.D. 466, 483 (N.D. Tex. 2014) (brackets and quotations omitted). While our courts have not published much guidance on this issue, the weight of federal authority is clear: such objections are tantamount to making no objection at all and should be deemed waived. See, e.g., Mancia v. Mayflower Textile Servs. Co., 253 F.R.D. 354, 363–64 (D. M.d. 2008); Guzman v. Irmadan, Inc., 249 F.R.D. 399, 400 (S.D. Fla. 2008); Frontier-Kemper Constructors, Inc. v. Elk Run Coal Co., 246 F.R.D. 522, 528 (S.D.W. Va. 2007); A. Farber & Partners, Inc. v. Garber, 234 F.R.D. 186, 188 (C.D. Cal. 2006); Hall v. Sullivan, 231 F.R.D. 468, 473-74 (D. Md. 2005); St. Paul Reinsurance Co. v. Commercial Fin. Corp., 198 F.R.D. 508, 514 (N.D. Iowa 2000).

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